1969

**John O. Farnsworth and Sharon Annette Farnsworth v. Soter's Inc.  
: Brief of Plaintiffs and Appellants**

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for damages for the loss of removing and tearing up a well-established road from the front of plaintiffs' property and platting lots in the

road thereby denying the plaintiff access to the road leaving them landlocked with the one-acre piece. Thereby depriving the plaintiffs' of the use of two building lots abutting the road. All done without any legal process to the plaintiffs or any notice of the proposed change. The plaintiffs asked that in the alternative to damages, the road be restored for use by plaintiffs.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a judge sitting without a jury and from a judgment of dismissal against the plaintiffs, the plaintiffs now appeal.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs and appellants seek a reversal of the judgment and request judgment in their favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff John Farnsworth purchased a farm of almost 120 acres (R. 3-185) from Chris and Florence Stoven in June of 1943 (R. 20 & 22 170) (Warranty Deed Exhibit P-4). That he first saw the property in May or June in 1943 (R. 14-180). At the time of purchase there was a road in front of the property (R. 29-180) which had been used for quite some time and had been established as a County Road (R. 181)



known as the Little Cottonwood Creek Road shown in aerial photograph (Exhibit P-5). (Photo taken 8-16-46) (R. 18-185).

The road in front of plaintiffs' property remained essentially the same as at time of purchase until May or June of 1964 at which time it was torn out by the defendant Soters, Inc. That in about 1959 the "bypass road" was built (R. 24-185) to avoid the bad turn to the north which was in the old road and was east of plaintiffs' property. The old road was left in front of the plaintiffs' and Jessop's property (Mrs. Jessop being the plaintiff's sister to whom he had transferred the property immediately to the west of his property and on which she lived (T. 188-11). The bypass road was used by the majority of the public but the old road abutting the plaintiffs' property was used constantly by some people including Mrs. Jessop and family until the road was torn up in May or June of 1964 (T. 187-11) and the school bus. It was impossible to use it after that.

The plaintiffs had the sewer put into their property in 1963 and a manhole was put in in the street in front of the plaintiff's property and sister was hooked on it.

The plaintiff sold the 120 acre farm he owned with the exception of the piece he sold to his sister and the piece he retained for himself to Happy Valley Incorporated (T. 193).

The property of the plaintiffs being surrounded by Willow Creek Country Club Estates (T. 193-14) which are built around the country club. There is a road south of the property which does not abutt plaintiffs' property known as Rubidoux Road, but which is separated from their property by a protective strip about three feet wide over which they were not permitted to pass (see Exhibit P-2).

The plaintiffs' land is surrounded on three sides with no access to a road and on July 29, 1964, and recorded July 30, 1964, the County Commission approved a subdivision for Soter's Incorporated for the property immediately to the north where the old road had previously run past plaintiffs' land, which closed in the land on all four sides leaving no means of ingress or egress to the land at all (Exhibit P-1).

That prior thereto, on September 17, 1958, the County Commission had authorized the issuance of a deed to Robert Swaner and wife granting him the County's interest in the old roadway in exchange for a new right of way at 8200 South and Cottonwood Creek, and he quitclaimed to the County (See minutes of meeting - Exhibit D-17). The County Commission on the 29th day of May, 1964, transferred the title to Sam F. Soter (Exhibit D-15) who, the same day, transferred the title to Soters Inc. (Exhibit D-24), the present title holder. That all of said transfers and agreements were made without any notice being received or given to the plaintiffs or the Jessops who were

the only other persons concerned with the right of way. The Jessops were left part of the road in front of their place and have means of access into their home.

Neither the County, the defendants the Sommers, nor the defendant Soter's Inc. ever gave any warning as to the removal of the road even though the County was warned by Mr. Oscar McConkie, an attorney employed by the Jessops (R. 249-256), and even though the County did not give Mr. McConkie the courtesy of an answer, Soter's Inc. just went ahead and destroyed the road (R. 187 & 208).

The plaintiffs intended to build a home on part of the property and they are now precluded from doing so because of the situation.

There is testimony as to the worth of the property given by an expert witness, Nathan Smith, which would indicate that the loss of the value of the land would be \$12,500.00 (R. 225) based on the loss of access on the highest possible use. Mr. Smith testified that the loss would be \$11,240.00 on the cost of cure basis to restore the property to its former value by repairing the roads and accesses (R. 226).

The counsel stipulated that a Mr. Verl Smart, a school bus driver, would testify that he drove around the particular area in question up until the barrier was put in in 1964.

## ARGUMENT

### Point 1. THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS DEPRIVED OF PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW OR COMPENSATION.

In this particular instance the plaintiffs were deprived of access to an established highway which had abutted their property for many years, by destruction of the road by the defendant and without any notice, legal action, nor receipt of any compensation therefor contrary to the provisions of the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States providing

“Private property is not to be taken for use without just compensation.”

Am Jur 2nd 26 Eminent Domain p. 812. At page 823 of the same title and volume states

“As a general rule, there is a taking of property within the meaning of the constitutional provision ‘nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation,’ where the act involves an actual interference with, or disturbance of, property rights, as distinguished from injuries which are merely consequential or incidental, . . . ”

The Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Utah Article I, Sec. 7, provide that property cannot be taken without due process of the law. This is shown at section 376 Eminent Domain of Vol. 27 Am Jur 2nd p. 241 which states, among other things,

"Inasmuch as both federal and state constitutions protect all persons from being deprived of their property without due process of the law and warrant equal protection of the law, proceedings to condemn property must be such as not to violate these guaranties."

It further points out that no particular form or method is guaranteed but "Its requirements are satisfied if he has reasonable notice and opportunity to present his claim or defense."

"That no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law."

Here there was no notice or opportunity to be heard and, in fact, it was not known about until the spring of 1963 when, in truth, the Commission made the Agreement to give the street away in 1958.

The only question here remaining is whether the road taken which abutted the plaintiff's land is property for which the plaintiff should be compensated. It is contended that the right of access is a property right which must be taken by due process and the plaintiffs must be fully compensated for the taking.

It is recognized in Arizona that such a taking requires compensation as shown in *Fletcher v. State*, 367 Pac. 2nd, 272, which states:

"Fletcher alleges error in not granting severance damages for loss of access. Trial conducted on the theory that the loss of access was not compensable held 'In view of our recent holdings that either the destruction or the material im-

pairment of the access easement of an abutting property owner to a controlled access highway is compensable.' ”

In Idaho, in the case of *Johnson v. Boise City*, 390 Pac. 2nd, 291, which was a case involving an access, the court stated:

“This court has consistently held that access to a public way is one of the incidents of ownership of land bounding such right is appurtenant to the land and is a vested right.”

Quoted from *Ferris v. City of Twin Falls*, 347 Pac 2nd, 996, they cite numerous and sundry other Idaho cases in support of this position.

In Utah, the case of *J. Herbert Hansen and wife v. Utah Road Commission*, 14 U. 2nd 305, 383 Pac. 2nd 917. The court did not make an additional award for loss of access but recognized that a loss of access was a factor in the settlement of the case by stating

“Where right of access was appurtenant to the property taken, damage resulting due to loss of access from the half remaining portion of property was necessarily considered as a factor in increasing the award of the land which was taken under the instruction that property owners were entitled to the difference in the value of the remaining tract before and after taking and that there was no existing easement to the remaining land.”

There had been a separate award for this case for the severance.

In the case of *Bare v. Department of Highways*, 401 Pac. 2d, 552, in Idaho, the court stated:

“We have recognized that an abutting property owner’s right of reasonable access to a public highway is a property right which may not be taken by the state without just compensation. When such property is taken without compensation, the owner may recover in an action in inverse condemnation, the damages to his property caused by the taking.”

The 1953 Utah Code Annotated as Amended provides in Title 27, Chapter 1, Section 2 that:

“A highway shall be deemed to have been dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years.”

In this particular instance, the evidence shows that this had been used for more than ten years and had become a public highway. This is supported by the case of *Morris v. Blunt*, 49 U. 243, 161 P. 1127 which states that

“Under this section, the highway, even though it be over privately owned ground, will be deemed dedicated or abandoned to the public use when the public has continuously used it as a thoroughfare for a period of 10 years, but such use must be by the public.”

While the next section provides that all highways continue until abandoned by the County Commissioners or other competent authority, it would seem that here there has been such an abandonment as the County

traded this to Sommers and subsequently to the defendant, Soter's Incorporated. This would be under the police power. However, in the case of *Hague v. Juab County*, 37 U. 290, 107 P. 249, it states

“While public may abandon street or highway insofar as it affects right of public therein, such abandonment, however, will not affect rights of abutting owner with respect to use of easement he may have in street for purposes of ingress and egress to and from his premises.”

Also, in the case of *Tuttle v. Sowadzki*, 41 U. 501, 126 P. 959.

“While highway by abandonment may pass out of jurisdiction of local authorities, rights of abutting owners will not be affected.”

In other words, even though the County deeded by quitclaim whatever right it had in the road, Soter's Incorporated took subject to all the plaintiffs' rights in the road as to right of “access” and property right.

Under Title 27, Chapter 1, Section 7, the law provides, among other things,

“A transfer of land bounded by a highway passes the title of the person whose estate is transferred to the middle of the highway.”

In this particular instance, while the highway was not on land described in the deed to the plaintiff, but was in the area of the land which eventually came down to the Sommers, and from them to Sam Soter and Soter's Inc., still there was an established right of way for the



public use when plaintiff received this land by deed in 1943 and he had a property right to the middle of the street.

In 47 A.L.R. 902 under an Annotation - Power to Deny Abuttter Access to Street or Highway, it states

“Regardless of whether the fee of the street or highway is in the abutting owners or in the public, such an owner has a special easement therein for purposes of ingress and egress, which is property as much as the abutting lot itself, and which cannot be taken away or materially impaired or interfered with, even under legislative authority, without compensation to him therefor.”

This annotation further goes on to quote the case of *Anzalone v. Metropolitan District Commission* of the Common Wealth in Massachusetts 153 N.E. 325

“The court in the reported case declares the right of access to the highway to be one of the incidents of the ownership of the abutting property, whether the fee of the highway is in the municipality or in private ownership; and without denying the right of the commission to make reasonable regulations as to the place and size of the approach, does deny its power altogether to exclude the abutting owner from access to the highway . . . ”

This case is reported on page 897 of the same volume and further states at 902

“The exercise of a legal right may be regu-

lated but it is not to be taken away without legislative action.”

This also points out at 901

“That if land adjacent to a roadway . . . should be divided into lots in separate ownership, each owner would have a right of access from his lot to this roadway.”

This is directly comparable to the case in question where the plaintiff had sufficient land to make two lots on the north end and which abutted the roadway which was vacated. This road would have served both lots. In volume 43 A.L.R. 2d p. 1072 treats on the subject

“Abutting owner’s right to damages or other relief for loss of access . . . ”

Under section three on page 1074, it states

“Where an established ‘land-service road,’ in which the normal right of access had already come into being, is converted into a limited-access way in such a manner that the existing right of access are destroyed, the owners of such rights are entitled to compensation, exactly as they would be if such rights were destroyed by any other type of construction.”

and states, among other cases, *People v. La Macchia* quoted on page 1075

“ . . . the conversion of a highway to a freeway, the right of access from various landowners’ properties was strictly limited, the court, approving an award of compensation which included a substantial amount for impairment of the

pre-existing right of access, held that no reversible error arose from an instruction stating that the owner of abutting land had a private right in such highway, distinct from that of the public, for the purpose of access to his land."

Also, in the Department of Public Works and Buildings v. Wolf, 111 NE2d 322

"It was held that pre-existing rights of access to a highway would not be taken by the mere action of the state in declaring the highway a freeway and posting freeway signs along the boundary of the property, the court saying that such rights constituted valuable property which could not be taken without compensation."

This annotation recognizes and brings out the fact that impairment of access or circuitry of travel will not give rise to compenstaion. In this particular instance, the court cited the Springville Bank v. State of Utah as support for its position. However, this was clearly in line with the circuitry of travel for access and, in the opinion of the plaintiff, the law established was not applicable to the instant case.

As a further supplement to the annotation, in Volume 4 of the A.L.R. 2d, Later Case Service, the annotation which is found on page 903, the court cites various and sundry cases in numerous jurisdictions, among others, the following:

"Property owner abutting upon public street or highway has property right in nature of ease-

ment of ingress and egress to and from his property and such right cannot be taken from him without just compensation. Taking of easement of access to public highways is compensable in terms of severance damages, that is, in terms of diminution in value of property which formerly had easement of access. *People by Department of Public Works v Renaud*, 198 Cal App 2d 581, 17 Cal Rptr 674." Also

"Right of access in and to street or highway attached to abutting lands which is a property right and cannot be taken for public use without just compensation. Such right of access is justified upon grounds of necessity and is such as is reasonably necessary for enjoyment of the land for all purposes to which it is adapted, subject, however, to reasonable regulations of state highway commission with respect to entrances. *Riddle v. State Highway Com.*, 184 Kan 603, 339 P2d 301." Again

"Access easements appropriated by state for construction of parkway are property and are protected by state constitutions from being taken without just compensation. *Gilmore v State*, 208 Misc 427, 143 NYS2d 873." Further

"Real property consists not alone of tangible things but also of certain rights therein sanctioned by law, such as right to access, ingress, and egress, and owners of property abutting a street or highway cannot be deprived by public authorities of all access thereto without just compensation, since such deprivation amounts to a taking of the property. *Iowa State Highway Com. v Smith (Iowa)* 82 NW2d 755."

"Reconstruction of highway which renders

abutting landowner's property less accessible to highway, or approach less convenient, constitutes taking of valuable property right which is compensable. *Mississippi State Highway Com. v Finch* (Miss.) 114 So 2d 673."

"Right of owner of property abutting on public highway to ingress and egress when portion of property is taken by state under power of eminent domain as right of way for limited-access highway is property right which is protected by S 14 of the state constitution and cannot be taken or damaged without just compensation. *Chandler v Hjelle* (ND) 126 NW2d 141."

"If a free way is built in such a manner as to deny a landowner any access to such highway where he theretofore had full access to a conventional highway, then unquestionably his right of access has been taken from him, and taker must pay him for such property right. His loss is generally shown by the before-and-after market value of the property. *Pennysavers Oil Co. v State* (Tex Civ App) 334 SW2d 546, error ref."

This also cites on the impairment of access a number of cases which have given the owner of the property compensation for mere circuity of access and we cite the following:

"One whose right of access from his property to abutting highway is cut off or substantially interfered with by vacation of closing of road is entitled to damages. But if his access is not so terminated or obstructed, if he has same access to highway as he did before the closing, his damage is not special, but of same kind,

although it may be greater in degree, as that of general public, and he has lost no property right for which he is entitled to compensation. *Warren v Iowa State Highway Com.* (Iowa) 93 NW2d 60."

"Notwithstanding availability of frontage road from which property owner's abutting property had circuitous access to main thoroughfare at remote interchanges, owner suffered compensable damage if highway to which he previously had immediate and unlimited access was rebuilt on existing right of way in manner which denied him reasonably convenient and suitable access to main thoroughfare in at least 1 direction. *Hendrickson v State*, 267 Minn 436, 127 NW2d 165 (citing annotation)."

In a book put out by the American Association of State Highway Officials entitled "Acquisition for Right-of-Way," 1962 Edition, with respect to Highway Access, it states in Chapter 10, page 112

"At the earlier stages of highway development in America, the landowners bore most of the burden of constructing and maintaining public roads. Highways were built to serve the land—to provide a means of getting to and from the land. Naturally, with the shift in the character of travel, the burden of providing a highway system soon shifted to the government. However, the rights of the abutter, that were generated at the time when the provisions of roads were the responsibility of the property owner and were built to serve the landowner, still persisted.

The rights which the abutting owner or oc-

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