1969

**John O. Farnsworth and Sharon Annette Farnsworth v. Soter's Inc.
: Brief of Soter's Inc. Defendant and Third Party Plaintiff and Of
Salt Lake County, Third Party Defendant and Respondent**

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

ARGUMENT

Point 1. THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE NOT BEEN DEPRIVED OF PROPERTY WITH-

OUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW OR COMPEN SATION.

It appears that the Plaintiffs have misconceived their own case as their entire argument contained Point 1 lies solely in quotations from the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution as well as recitations from surrounding states' cases and other cases sounding solely in condemnation and inverse condemnation.

Neither Plaintiffs' pleadings nor any evidence adduced at the trial sounds whatsoever either in eminent domain or inverse condemnation. The only place that such argument is treated is in Plaintiffs' brief and, as stated above, is not substantiated whatsoever by either the pleadings or the evidence and therefore should not be considered here.

The Defendant and Third-Party Plaintiff, Soter Inc., does not come within the classification of the parties allowed to invoke the rights of the eminent domain statutes as set forth in Title 78 Chapter 30 Utah Code Annotated 1953, and the doctrine of "inverse condemnation" has been repeatedly rejected in the State of Utah as is evidenced by the cases of Farclough v. Salt Lake County et al., 10 U.2d 417 354 P.2d 105, and Sine v. Helland et.al., 18 U.2d 22 418 P.2d 979 and ancillary cases referred to in each of said cases.

Plaintiffs attempt to apply some condemnation

inverse condemnation rules to the instant case by claiming that their property abuts the Defendant and Third-Party Plaintiff and Respondent's property upon which the old road was and by alleging that they are abutters and that they own to the center of the old roadway, which was North some 7 to 15 feet of the Defendant's North property line. Plaintiffs also allege that if they cannot become abutters then they have a right by prescription, which argument is also fallacious.

To show the fallacy in Plaintiffs' contention as being an abutter and having rights, either as an abutter or a prescriptive right, it is necessary that we look to the true definition of these respective words which Plaintiffs seem to have overlooked.

Corpus Juris Secundum in 1 C.J.S. 406 defines "abut" as follows:

"ABUT. In its most ordinary sense, "abut" means to be contiguous, or border on; to bound upon; to end, end at, or terminate, to join at a border or boundary; to meet; to touch at the end or side. Usually "abut" implies contact, but this is not always so.

Phrases: "Abuts against the solid rock," "abuts on the highway," "abuts or adjoins," "abuts upon the improvement," and "abuts upon the street."

"Abutting" is a word of common usage, having a definite, well understood meaning, as well in legal as in common parlance. It has been defined as meaning adjacent; adjoining; coming together; contiguous; ending; joined to; meeting; touching. It has been said that it conveys

the idea of bordering on, bounded by, *with nothing intervening*. While the word "abutting" may not imply that the things spoken of are necessarily in contact, the usual meaning conveyed is that of touching or coming together. (Emphasis added)

In a narrow and restricted sense the term is used in reference to that which touches at the end as distinguished from that which adjoins it on the side. In ordinary usage, however, it is said to have no restricted sense, but to refer to that which touches other premises whether at the ends or on the sides; and it has also been said not to include land lying wholly within, although in a particular connection, the use of the word may convey the idea of abutting and lying partially within.

"Abutting" has been distinguished from "adjacent," "fronting," "occupying," and "tributary."

Phrases: "Abutting, adjoining, contiguous, "abutting and occupying," "abutting, contiguous and tributary," "abutting each other," "abutting its line," "abutting lands," "abutting lot," "abutting on or adjacent to," "abutting on such laterals," "abutting on the improvement," "abutting or adjacent real estate," "abutting or fronting," "abutting owner," "abutting platted lots," "abutting property," "abutting property owner," "abutting railroad property," "abutting the street," "abutting unplatted property," "abutting upon, adjacent, vicinal or proximate to the street," "abutting upon such avenue," "abutting upon the street or streets," "adjacent or abutting," "bordering or abutting upon street or streets," "contiguous

property abutting,” “facing or abutting upon the improvement,” “fronting or abutting feet,” “fronting or abutting upon,” “lands not immediately abutting,” and “occupying or abutting any highway.”

ABUTTER. One whose property abuts, is contiguous, or joins at a border or boundary, as where no other land, road, or street intervenes; the word has sometimes been spelled “abutter.” ”

Black’s Law Dictionary Third Edition, Pages 18 and 19 define “abutter” and “abutting owner” as follows:

“**ABUTTER.** One whose property abuts, is contiguous, or joins at a border or boundary as where no other land, road, or street intervenes.

ABUTTING OWNER. ~~A~~^A owner of land which abuts or adjoins. The term usually implies that the relative parts actually adjoin, but is sometimes loosely used without implying more than close proximity. See Abut.”

The most recently legal dictionary, namely, Balentine’s Law Dictionary Third Edition 1969, at Pages 8 and 9 defines “abut” and “abutting owner” as follows:

“**ABUT.** To end at; to border on; to reach or touch with an end, as where a lot touches the highway. *Hensler v. Anacortes*, 140 Wash 184, 248 P 406.

ABUTTING OWNERS. Those owners whose lands touch a highway or other public place. 1 Am J2d Adj L § 1; 25 Am J1st High § 153.

It is arbitrary to limit the meaning of "abutting owners" to lands bordering a highway and not to speak of lands as "adjoining" a highway but the usefulness of a distinction in legal articles between lands that abut on a highway and adjoining lands generally, arbitrary and fanciful although it may be, is not to be denied. 1 A. J2d Adj L §1."

The term "abutter" or "abutting owner" is sometimes referred to as adjoining land owner and 1 A. J2d 691 and 692 defines "adjoining landowners" as follows:

"As the term is used in legal terminology "adjoining landowners" are the owners of lands that are separated by a common boundary. The word "lands" includes town and city lots as well as rural property. Lands have been held to adjoin, within this rule, although they are separated by a public street. "Adjoining premises, however, are held to be premises which touch or are connected with premises of another, distinguished from premises lying near or adjacent thereto. The ordinary meaning of the words "contiguous territory" is not territory nearby in the neighborhood or locality, but territory touching, adjoining, and connecting, distinguished from territory separated by other territory. The word "adjoining" implies contiguity in describing lands.

Lands which lie along, and are bordered by a highway "adjoin" the highway in a literal sense of the word, but as used in this work and in legal literature generally, the phrase "abutting owners" is used to designate those whose lands touch a highway or other public place. The dis-

inction is wholly arbitrary, but it answers a useful purpose in that it gives a definite and distinctive classification and avoids confusion that might otherwise arise.

In considering the rights, duties, and liabilities of adjoining landowners, it should be kept in mind that land has in its legal signification an indefinite extent upward, and includes everything terrestrial, not only the ground or soil, but everything which is attached to the earth, whether by the course of nature, as trees, herbage, and water, or by the hands of man, as houses and other buildings.”

It is evident from the foregoing definitions as well as the exhibits and evidence before the court that it is impossible for the Plaintiffs to be classified as an abutting property owner when in fact their property line ends at the section line and the old roadway was a considerable distance North of the section line and property line and at a different elevation than Plaintiffs' property with no openings being available *or ever* having been used by the Plaintiffs from their North boundary to said old roadway (T. - 197, 203, and 246, Deposition Pages 5 and 15) except the one opening into Plaintiff, John O. Farnsworth's, sister and brother-in-law's, Jessop's, place which has not been altered by either the Defendant or by any of the Third-Party Defendants (Exhibit D-10 and D-11) and which is in its original location and condition.

Plaintiffs admit both from the evidence (T. - 181) and in their own brief that the old roadway was created

by prescription and by public dedication and that there were no openings that had been used on the Plaintiffs' North property line except that into what is now known as the Jessop property formerly owned by the Plaintiffs and conveyed to Jessops (T. - 202).

It has been stated that any person capable of receiving a grant of an easement may acquire one by prescription. While legally organized or political entities may acquire an easement by prescription, the general public is incapable of receiving a grant and hence, according to some courts, cannot acquire a prescriptive easement. *Bertolina v. Frates*, 89 Utah 238, 57 P2d 346. Nor can one acquire title by adverse use where his use is as a member of the public, in common with all others exercising and enjoying the privilege of use, *Simmons v. Perkins*, 63 Idaho 136, 118 P2d 740, since the use in such a case is not exclusive. 25 Am Jur 2d, § 40 and 41 on Prescription.

An easement may be acquired by prescription in private property; but, by the weight of authority, it cannot be so acquired in property held for public use. 28 C.J.S. 633, §9(c).

The Plaintiffs at page 8 of their brief cite *Utah Road Commission v. Hansen*, 14 U2d 305, 383 Pac.2d 917, in support of their position, however, this case also specifies as follows:

“Absent an established easement, all that abutting owner is entitled to is some reasonable means

of access to highway the same as all other members of the public.”

“Owners of property abutting on a street were not entitled to additional compensation on ground that limitation of access would lessen value of the remaining land should they desire to divide and sell it into smaller pieces.”

In the instant case the Plaintiffs were not abutters, did not have a prescriptive easement as they never, as the evidence overwhelmingly substantiates, had an opening in their fence nor used the property all along the North boundary of their remaining property to gain access to the old roadway for the reason that the street was further to the North than their North boundary and also that there was no opening other than that transferred by the Plaintiffs to the Jessops, as well as there being a difference in elevation (Exhibit D-9). Therefore, they had no easement, could not lose something they never had and were not entitled to, and were not abutting property owners and under any stretch of the imagination could not own to the center of a road which was on someone else's property.

There is absolutely no dispute that when the new road was opened up in 1959 the general public specifically used that road from that time on. Salt Lake County abandoned said old road, having transferred same to Third-Party Defendants, Swaners, and Swanners in turn having transferred said old roadway to Sam F. Soter, Third-Party Defendant and Respondent, who in turn transferred same to the Defendant and

Third-Party ^{Plaintiff} Defendant, Soter's Inc. The old road being a public dedicated roadway, and the public having been furnished a means of reasonable access, the Plaintiffs, still retaining the access that they already had, certainly had no reason to complain at a subsequent date because they landlocked themselves. Furthermore Plaintiffs have a better and paved street with curb and gutter which they can acquire from the developers of Willow Creek Subdivision by paying a nominal sum as is evidenced by Exhibit D-18.

Assuming that the Plaintiffs are abutters, which we expressly deny, and quoting from Plaintiffs' own brief at Page 18, Plaintiffs specify as follows:

“Before an abutter is entitled to compensation for the impairment of his access rights, he must show that he suffers a special injury, differing in kind and not merely in degree from that suffered by the public in general.”

“The abutter is not entitled to access at all points of his property, and as long as a suitable means of access is left to him, he has suffered no legal injury”

Here Plaintiffs, even if abutters, which they are not, have suffered no injury as they still would have had the same access, if they had not conveyed it to the Jessops, as they had prior to the installation of the new roadway.

Plaintiffs at Page 21 of their brief improperly attempt to invoke a 1965 Session Law to the instant

case and attempt to retroactively apply same in connection with the abandonment of the old highway, which, by Defendant's contention, was in 1959 and by Plaintiffs' contention, was in 1963 and/or 1964. This theory, of course, must also fail for two reasons: (1) Said law cannot be applied retroactively, and (2) said law would not be applicable even if in force at the time of abandonment for the reasons previously stated.

Point 2. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PLAINTIFFS A JURY TRIAL.

Plaintiffs, in their argument of Point 2, again attempt to imply that they have been denied due process by asserting that it is a fundamental procedure and right in American Jurisprudence to have a jury trial and that same should not be lightly denied.

It will be noted that Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in the Salt Lake County Clerk's Office on March 17, 1966, their Motion of Readiness on February 6, 1967, said case had been pretried and many Motions heard, yet Plaintiffs' Notice and Motion for a Jury Trial was not made until February 14, 1969, just a few days prior to the time the case was set for trial, which would appear to be just a little bit tardy.

This court has ruled on this question on many occasions and this matter of demand for a jury trial is covered by the following:

CONSTITUTION OF UTAH: Art. 1, §
10 - *Trial by Jury* - "In capital cases the right

of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. In courts of general jurisdiction, except in capital cases, a jury shall consist of eight jurors. In courts of inferior jurisdiction a jury shall consist of four jurors. In criminal cases the verdict shall be unanimous. In civil cases three-fourths of the jurors may find a verdict. *A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded.*” (Emphasis added)

UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE: Rule 38 (b) *Demand* - “Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury by paying the statutory jury fee and serving upon the other parties a demand therefor in writing at any time after the commencement of the action and not later than shall be fixed by rule of the court in which the action is pending. Such demand may be indorsed upon a pleading of the party.”

RULES OF PRACTICE IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF UTAH: Rule 8 *Jury Demand* - “Any case originally set for trial without a jury may nevertheless be set for jury trial, provided that written notice and payment of the jury fee be deposited with the clerk of the court not later than the pre-trial conference of said action.”

This court in *Thompson et ux, v. Anderson et al* 107 U.331, 153 P2d 665, says as follows:

“It is a matter of discretion with the court to allow or refuse a demand for a jury, when not made within statutory time or extended time provided by court rule, and it is not an abuse

of discretion to refuse a late demand for jury trial if no excuse is shown for failure to make timely demand.”

The court, in the same case, further specifies as follows:

“Where Defendant filed motion for jury trial after case was set on nonjury calendar, but not within required time limit as provided by court rule, extending statutory time limit for such motion, and, gave as justification therefor that he was giving consideration to overtures of plaintiffs which tended toward settlement of case, trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying motion.”

See also the following Utah cases:

Wood v. R.G.W. Ry., 28 Utah 351, 79 P. 182; Ogden Valley Trout & Resort Co. v. Lewis, 41 Utah 183, 125 P. 687; Board of Education of Salt Lake City v. West, 55 Utah 357, 186 P. 114; Utah State Building & Loan Ass'n. v. Perkins et al., 53 Utah 474, 173 P. 950; Emerson-Brantingham Implement Co. v. Giles et al., 59 Utah 54, 202 P. 543; State ex rel. Nichols v. Cherry, 22 Utah 1, 60 P. 1103.

It is evident from the foregoing cases, all directly in point, that the Plaintiffs' demand for jury trial came too late, that they had waived their right to a jury trial, and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Plaintiffs' motion at such a late date.

CONCLUSION

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